IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARL ALLEN CARUTHERS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 64,114

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARL ALLEN CARUTHERS, :

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 64,114

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

_____;

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, CARL ALLEN CARUTHERS, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Carl Allen Caruthers was charged by indictment filed January 19, 1983 with first degree murder of Martha Zereski, armed robbery, and two counts of grand theft (R.1390). On March 7, 1983, a number of defense motions were filed, including several motions challenging the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute and certain of the aggravating circumstances enumerated therein (R.1391-1429). The defense filed a motion in limine seeking to prohibit the state from questioning prospective jurors about their views concerning the death penalty (R.1427-29), and a motion to preclude the state from challenging for cause those prospective jurors who would not or might not be able to recommend imposition of the death penalty (R.1423-24). These motions were denied on May 24, 1983 (R.1259,1278,1435-36).

The case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge George E.

Lowrey and a jury on May 31-June 3, 1983. Appellant was found guilty as charged of first degree murder (premeditated and felony murder), robbery with a firearm, and both counts of theft (R.1439). Following the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended, by a vote of 9, that the death penalty be imposed (R.1440). On July 18, 1983 the trial court sentenced appellant to death (R. 1383,1468-70). [Appellant was also sentenced to life imprisonment on the robbery conviction and five years imprisonment on each of the theft convictions (R.1384-85,1471-72)]. Notice of appeal was filed August 9, 1983 (R.1474).

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Immediately prior to jury selection, defense counsel stated to the court:

I'd like to put on the record that the Defendant at all times, including this time, has offered and asked to plead straight up to the indictment in exchange for a life sentence on the capital, and any other sentence on the other three counts. I just want to make sure that that's on the record before the trial begins. And that still remains his posture here now.

(R.50)

At the outset of the trial, in his opening statement to the jury, defense counsel made it clear that he was not contesting the fact that appellant was guilty of robbery, felony murder, and theft; the only real issue in the guilt phase was whether or not the murder was premeditated (R.648-50).

According to the evidence presented at trial, appellant was living on the premises of Grady Adams, a missionary worker, from February to June, 1982 and again in November, 1982 (R.652-53). During his second stay, appellant stole a .38 pistol from a filing cabinet in Grady Adams' bedroom (R.659-63, 893). Appellant subsequently went to live in Betty Boyd's camper, behind the house occupied by Ms. Boyd, her daughter Brenda Jenkins, and James Coleman (R.777-78, 795). On January 9, 1983, appellant went fishing with Coleman, Boyd, and Boyd's three children (R.778,796,891, 894). Approximately a case and two six packs of beer were consumed by the three adults (almost all of it by appellant and Coleman) (R.779,789-90,796,801-02,902-03). In the early evening,

appellant stole Grady Adams' car from the church parking lot (R.654-58, 892). The car was a 1967 Pontiac Bonneville, white with a black top; it was in very bad condition and had to be started with a screwdriver (R.654-55,892).

Shortly before 8:00 p.m., Paul Chase was traveling east on the Chumuckla Highway when he observed a car accelerating rapidly out of the parking lot of a Han D Pak convenience store (R.667). The car was a Bonneville or Catalina, '67 - '72, white with a dark top (R.669). A few minutes later, customers Ronald Wadkins, Jr. and Jeffrey White entered the store and found the clerk lying motionless behind the counter, with the cash register open (R.673,678). Deputy Sheriff Larry Bryant was dispatched to the scene; upon his arrival he found the body of a white female known to him as the store's clerk (R.682-83). He checked her condition and found no pulse (R.685,689). Dorothy Clenney, the manager of the Han D Pak store identified the clerk as Martha Zereski (R.717-18). Ms. Clenney determined that \$54.96 was missing from the register (R.718).

[An autopsy was performed the following day by Dr. Garland Hilbert, who determined that Ms. Zereski was shot three times; the entrance wounds were in the left arm, the upper left side of the back, and the lower left side of the back (R.840-47). The cause of death was internal hemorrhage, mainly in the chest cavities (R.846). Dr. Hilbert concluded that unconsciousness would have resulted within a minute or so of the infliction of the wounds, and death would have ensued within a couple of minutes (R.848-49)].

On the night of January 9, in the course of their investigation, police officers found Grady Adams' car abandoned on a dirt road known as Union Valley Campground Road (R.750-53,809-The motor was still running (R.753). There were some footprints leading from the lefthand door of the car down the road and into the woods (R.734,755,809-10). On the ground, by the rear of the car, the police found a twenty dollar bill and a ten dollar bill (R.810-12,828-29). John Townson, a dog trainer, was called to that location, and he and two of his dogs began tracking by sight and scent in the direction of the footprints (R.759-63). The trail led to the back doorstep of Betty Boyd's house (R.763,767-69). Police officers went to the house, where they spoke with appellant (R.768-70). Since he was a suspect, Sergeant Dees leaned him up against the police car and patted him down, and advised him of his rights (R.770-72). Appellant's shoes appeared to match the footprint impressions (R.772). Appellant was placed in the back of a police car and transported to the Santa Rosa County Jail (R.772,806). Appellant's personal effects were received by the police; he had \$25.06 in his possession (R.806). Grady Adams'

(R.991)

In his closing argument, the prosecutor left no doubt that it was the state's theory that the ten and twenty dollar bills found on the dirt road had been dropped by appellant:

The defendant's later taken to the jail. His money is taken from him. How much money is taken from him? Twenty-five dollars and six cents. That was the money they took from him at the jail. Three fives, the rest ones, six cents.

What did Ms. Clenney tell us? Ms. Clenney told us that there was \$54.96 taken in that robbery. \$54.96. We've got \$24.06 here. We've got \$30.00 found on the ground; remember, one ten and one twenty. So we come up with \$55.06. Ten cents difference.

Here's the money he dropped on the ground. He was broke; he needed some money. Now, he'd go kill a clerk. He killed Martha -He executed Martha for \$54.96.

.38 pistol was recovered from the glove compartment of a Buick LaSabre parked adjacent to the Boyd-Coleman residence (R.815-16, 828,893).

In the early morning hours of January 10, 1983, appellant was interviewed by police officers and an assistant state attorney at the Santa Rosa County Sheriff's Department (R.873-77). After being advised of his Miranda rights (R.873-79), appellant told them that he had been fishing out at the bay with Betty Boyd, her three children, and James Coleman (R.894-95). Appellant said he had drunk "about a good case" of beer that day (R.895,902-03). He had his last beer about twenty-five minutes before the shooting occurred (R.903). When they got back from fishing, appellant asked Boyd and Coleman to drop him off at the home of a girl he knew named Virginia (R.891-92). There was nobody there so appellant began walking home (R.892). When he got down by Faith Baptist Church, appellant decided he didn't feel like walking any further, and he remembered that Grady Adams' car would be easy to start with a screwdriver (R.892). He took the car and began riding around for a while (R.892,895). Then he parked the car, walked over to the house, and got the gun he had taken from Grady Adams' place several months earlier (R.892-93). James Coleman had been wanting him to shoot this big dog for quite a while, so appellant went looking for the dog but couldn't find it (R.892). He rode around some more and then went to the Han D Pak store (R.892). There was another customer in there; appellant walked around and waited until he left (R.892,896,900). When he saw the man pull away, appellant pulled his gun out of his pants (R.896). He told the

clerk he wanted the money and if she did what he said he wouldn't hurt her (R.897). Appellant was "shaking like crazy," and he thought the clerk was crying (R.910). Appellant kept telling her he didn't want to hurt her (R.892,897). Then she jumped and he just started shooting (R.892,897,910). Appellant stated that he didn't mean to pull the trigger; as soon as it went off he fired two more rounds (R.897,910). Appellant was standing behind the counter when he fired the shots; the clerk was turned sideways from him (R.897). Appellant took the money out of the register and threw it in his coat pocket (R.901). Later, when he got back to the camper, he put it in his billfold (R.901). Appellant parked Grady Adams' car "out on that old road", leaving the motor running because he couldn't find the screwdriver to shut it off (R.893,903-04). He walked home and put the gun in the glove compartment of James Coleman's Buick (R.893,904). Then he waited at home for the police to come, because he knew they would be coming there (R.893). Some time before the police arrived, appellant rode with Betty Boyd and James Coleman back to the Han D Pak (R.905-06). There were "a bunch of cars" there, and the area was roped off (R.906).

Betty Boyd testified that she, James Coleman, and appellant drank a case of beer while they were fishing, and bought two more six packs on the way back (R.779,789-90). Ms. Boyd drank only two or three beers out of the case, and she did not drink any of the two six packs (R.789-90). Around 6:00 p.m. they got back into Milton and dropped appellant off at a house on Hinote Street (R.779-790). She described appellant's physical condition at that

time as "just kind of happy-go-lucky", but in her opinion he wasn't drunk (R.780). At around 7:30 p.m., appellant came back to her house and spoke with James Coleman on the porch (R.781). Appellant stayed about fifteen minutes, then left the house, and returned through the back door at around 8:05 (R.782). He said he had a tremendous headache and wanted a couple of aspirins (R.782). He seemed "a little hyper" and his face was flushed, but Ms. Boyd didn't think he was drunk (R.783-85). Later in the evening, they went out to get cigarettes but they were having problems with their car (R.785-86). They stopped on the street by the Han D Pak store, and a man came out to the car and asked what they needed (R.786). James Coleman asked the man what had happened (R.786). Ms. Boyd recalled appellant saying "Who would shoot an innocent lady?" (R.787). They returned home, and there was a policeman waiting at the entrance (R.787).

Ms. Boyd testified that she knew Martha Zereski "vaguely", by going into the store and talking to her (R.788). Ms. Boyd would go to that store just about every day to buy cigarettes, drinks, and such (R.788). She had been in the store several times with appellant when Martha Zereski was working there (R.788-89).

James Coleman testified that while they were fishing, he and appellant "pretty much split" a case and two six packs of beer (R.796,801-02). There are twenty-four cans of beer in a case (R.802); the two six packs would bring the total to thirty-six. They drank consistently, off and on, until they dropped appellant off (R.802). When they let him off, appellant had a

can of beer in his hand and another one in his pocket (R.796, 802). Coleman testified that appellant was drinking pretty well, but he didn't think he was drunk (R.798-99,801).

Coleman testified that about a week earlier he had given appellant four bullets, because he wanted appellant to shoot a dog which had been running the kids (R.797-99). When appellant came by the house at about 7:30 p.m. on January 9, he said he had seen the dog up on the road (R.798).

Brenda Jenkins, the daughter of Betty Boyd, testified that appellant came into the house a little bit after 8:00 p.m., said he had a headache, and asked for about five aspirin (R.919-20). Later that evening, Ms. Jenkins' grandmother called up and said the Han D Pak store had been robbed and the clerk had been shot and killed (R.920). Ms. Jenkins went out to the camper, woke up appellant, and told him (R.920). Appellant got a gun out from underneath the pillow and came in the house (R.920-21). He kept asking over and over again "Is she dead?" (R.921-22). Appellant's face was flushed, his eyes were red, and "you could smell that he had been drinking" (R.921). When he got up to go to bed he nearly tripped, but he grabbed hold of the door (R.921,924). However, she believed he was in control of his faculties (R.923).

Ms. Jenkins testified that she had been in the store with appellant ten or fifteen times when this clerk was working there (R.927). They would go up there three or four times a day (R.928). The clerk would talk to Ms. Jenkins and appellant (R.927). She and appellant knew each other's faces, but Ms. Jenkins never heard either of them call the other by name (R.928). They would say

"general stuff" like "How do you do", "Have a nice day", and "How's the weather", and appellant would ask about prices (R. 928).

The following is a summary of the evidence presented in the penalty phase of the trial:

Claudia Shanks, appellant's mother, testified that Carl would turn twenty-three years old in two weeks (R.1048-49). Carl grew up in Keokuk, Iowa, and left home at age seventeen (R.1048-49). When Carl was born he was totally deaf in his right ear, which they did not realize until he was five (R.1050). He was in the hospital many times as a child and as a baby with high temperatures caused by ear infections (R.1050). When Carl started school, he was taken to a specialist and his hearing deficiency was discovered (R.1050). He also had a nerve disorder which was affecting his eyes and his other ear (R.1050). Carl was sick quite often as a child and had three operations before he was sixteen (R.1050). It was determined that a hearing aid would do no good, so it was necessary for Carl to have an amplifier on his desk at school so he could hear (R.1050). Despite missing school often due to illness, Carl did well in elementary school and made good grades (R.1051). The family was active in their church, and Carl sang in the choir (R.1051). Things changed when Carl was in the seventh grade (R.1051). Instead of one teacher in one room, there were numerous teachers, and Carl's amplifier could not go with him to other rooms (R.1051). For the first semester he was on the Honor Roll, but then his school work

started going down (R.1051). He would work very hard to get good grades during football season so he would be eligible to participate, but he would lose interest during the rest of the year (R.1052). Around this time, Ms. Shanks and Carl's father were having problems in their marriage, and they ultimately were divorced (R.1052). Ms. Shanks got custody of Carl and his younger brother Gary (R.1053). Carl was very close to his father, and it deeply bothered him that he was not allowed to go see his father at times (R.1053).

At age sixteen, Carl was becoming deaf in his good ear, the left one, and major surgery was necessary (R.1053). It was a difficult decision whether to have the surgery, and it was a very trying time for Carl (R.1053-54). The surgery was done, and they were able to restore about sixty percent of his hearing in that ear (R.1053-54).

Ms. Shanks testified that Carl is seven and one half years older than his brother Gary, and has always been very close to him (R.1053-54). Gary was ten when Carl left home, and Carl has continually kept up with him by writing letters and by telephone (R.1054). Carl was supportive of Gary and was interested in everything that Gary was doing (R.1054). He tried in his own way to be a good influence on Gary; he would say "Gary, always do right, do as you're doing, never do the things that - - anything that I would do, don't do it." (R.1054). Ms. Shanks testified that on the night before the penalty phase, in the jail, Carl begged his brother to never do what he had done (R.1068). "He told his brother that his life was gone, but his brother was very special

to him and that he prayed that he'd never, ever in any way do anything that he had done. That he was sorry for what had happened" (R.1068).

Ms. Shanks recalled many occasions when Carl would babysit with children (R.1055). She remembered one time when a man
who had been in prison came to their church and didn't have anyone or anything, and Carl took his allowance and bought the man
a bible (R.1056). Carl did a lot of church work with children;
when you were thirteen years old you could be a counselor for
the younger children (R.1056).

Ms. Shanks testified that Carl and his father were better able to communicate than Carl and she were (R.1056-57). She was never able to talk to him about his problems in school and the like (R.1056-47). Carl never had any trouble with the law or juvenile authorities until he left home (R.1057).

Raymond Caruthers, appellant's father, testified that while Carl was growing up in Keokuk he did well in school up to a point, sang in the church choir, was active in sports, and never had any trouble with the law or juvenile authorities (R.1069-70). After the divorce, Carl's mother was given custody, but Carl subsequently lived with his father for about three months (R.1070). Carl was working at the steelcasting in Keokuk at the time (R.1070). After Carl left home, he stayed in contact with his father, and he always wanted to know how his younger brother Gary was doing (R.1071). Mr. Caruther's testified that the divorce seemed to affect Carl, that "[i]t just seemed like things started bothering him" (R.1071-72).

Mr. Caruthers testified that he has been living with Ms. Betty Ragar for five years (R.1072). Ms. Ragar has two children and Carl was really good with them (R.1072). Carl would take care of the children when he and Ms. Ragar would go up town (R.1072). Carl had a way of making Betty feel better when she would get down in the dumps (R.1072). Carl was very kind and respectful to Ms. Ragar, and her children loved him very much (R.1072).

Betty Ragar testified that she is blind, and has been all her life (R.1077). She has known appellant for five years (R.1077). Carl has visited and stayed in her home with her and Mr. Caruthers (R.1078). When her children Mark and Tracy were younger, she trusted Carl to take care of them (R.1078). He has been kind and considerate to them, and they love him as a brother (R.1078). Ms. Ragar testified that Carl has been kind to her and showed her respect (R.1078-79).

Appellant, Carl Caruthers, testified that other than the matters presently before the Court, the only time he was convicted for violating the law was a misdemeanor conviction for stealing a bicycle about a year earlier (R.1082-83).

Appellant testified that he enjoyed grade school (R.1083). He had to have an amplifier to hear with, but he got rid of it when he got to junior high school (R.1083). Then he started going out for sports (R.1083). He testified that he loves all kinds of sports, and that he also enjoyed his activities in the church and the choir (R.1083-84).

After his parents' divorce, appellant lived with his mother

at first (R.1083-84). When he was about sixteen he went to live with his father, and when he was seventeen he moved with his grandmother to Texas, where they stayed with his uncle He moved back to Keokuk after about a year; then went to Illinois and got a job working with the Pepsi-Cola Company (R.1084). Appellant then went to California with his older brother Eddie and got a job with a construction company (R.1085). After he was laid off, he went back to Keokuk (R. 1085). A carnival came through Keokuk every June; appellant joined up and traveled with the show for quite a long time (R.1085). A friend talked him into quitting the show and going to Apalachicola, Florida, when there was good money in shrimping and oystering (R.1085). They hitchhiked almost all the way (R.1085). Somewhere around Milton they stole two bicycles, and were pulled over with them (R.1085). A police officer took the bikes and let them go, and appellant thought they had heard the last of it (R.1085). They continued on to Apalachicola, and did some fishing and shrimping (R.1086). But then a warrant was served for the bicycles, and they got hauled back to Milton (R.1086). Appellant believed he spent about six months in jail waiting to go before the judge, who then let him out on time served (R.1086).

While he was in jail, appellant met Grady Adams (R.1086). Adams used to visit him quite often, and was telling him about this home that he had out at his place to help people get restarted with their life and meet the Lord (R.1086). Appellant was quite interested, so when he got out of jail he went to Grady Adams' place (R.1086). He stayed for a while and got

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