IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

S'D J. WHITE

MAR 6 1984

CARL ALLEN CARUTHERS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLERK SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 64,114 By *Samya*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN W. TIEDEMANN  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
THE CAPITOL  
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301  
(904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

## ARGUMENT

Appellant first claims that, under the notorious decision of Grigsby v. Mabry, 569 F.Supp. 1273 (E.D. Ark. 1983), appeal pending, Case No. 83-2113, \_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_ (8th Cir. 1984), he was entitled to the empanelment of jurors who oppose the death penalty during the guilt phase of the trial because such jurors are allegedly statistically less likely to vote to convict a capital defendant than are jurors who favor the death penalty. Although appellant did make this legal argument below (R 1427-1429), he put on absolutely no evidence in support of his statistical assumption, and has at no time alleged that any particular juror selected to hear his case evinced any sign of bias whatsoever.

Appellant's failure to present evidence in support of his statistical assumption that the jurors who oppose the death penalty are less likely to vote to convict a capital defendant than are jurors who favor the death penalty constitutes a waiver of the right to urge the exclusion of the former category of jurors as error upon appeal. Hulsey v. Sargent, 550 F.Supp. 179 (E.D. Ark. 1981). "Reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture." Jacobs v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1984), 9 F.L.W. 66. See Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 776 (1979).

Moreover, even if appellant's Grigsby claim were properly

before the Court, it would be meritless. Grigsby is inconsistent with this Court's earlier decisions of Riley v. State, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 74 L.Ed.2d 294 (1982), and Gafford v. State, 387 So.2d 333 (Fla. 1980), which hold that jurors who oppose the death penalty may be properly excluded from the guilt phase of a capital trial. See also Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Grigsby is also inconsistent with this Court's later decision of Lusk v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1984), 9 F.L.W. 39, which affirms that the defense may dismiss for cause only those jurors who show actual prejudice towards the defendant, as opposed to those whose bias may be merely implied by their membership in a certain group.

Along parallel lines, Grigsby is inconsistent with our Supreme Court's earlier decision of Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 518 (1968), in which the Court declined to judicially notice "that the exclusion of jurors opposed to capital punishment results in an unrepresentative jury on the issue of guilt or substantially increases the risk of conviction", and Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209 (1982), in which the Court held that the defense must show the actual prejudice, rather than the implied bias, of a juror in order to receive a new trial. Grigsby is also inconsistent with the Court's subsequent decisions of Maggio v. Williams, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 78 L.Ed.2d 43, 47 (1983), affirming the foregoing interpretation of Witherspoon in vacating a stay of execution on what was essentially a Grigsby claim, and Sullivan v. Wainwright, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 78 L.Ed 210, 212 (1983), denying a stay upon the petitioner's claim "that the jury that convicted him was biased in favor of the prosecution" and

indicating that this claim had been properly found "meritless" by both the state and federal courts. See also Woodward v. Hutchins, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_ (1984), 34 Crim.L.Rptr. 4156, in which Justice Brennan dissented from the vacating of a stay of execution on the ground that the defendant had alleged a Grigsby claim.

Grigsby has thus in essence already been rejected by this Court and our Supreme Court, and this Court, while it should note appellant's waiver, may wish to also take this opportunity to make this rejection explicit, as was done by the Supreme Court of Arkansas in Rector v. State, 659 S.W. 2d 168 (Ark. 1983). It is respectfully submitted that the defense in Grigsby clearly began with the conclusion that the Arkansas capital law was unconstitutional in some way and worked backwards, selectively employing statistics to guile a receptive federal judge into validating the wholly illegitimate concept that individuals may be infallibly stereotyped on the basis of their membership in a certain group. Such an approach has no place in Anglo-American jurisprudence. See Pulley v. Harris, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_ (1984), 52 U.S.L.W. 4141; McCorquodale v. Balkcom, \_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_ Case No. 82-8011 (11th Cir. 1983); Alvord v. Wainwright, Case No. 83-3345, \_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_ (11th Cir. 1984). See also Huff, How to Lie With Statistics (1st ed. 1954), an excellent book with an unfortunate title, for an in-depth expose' of the various methods of statistical manipulation.

ISSUES II AND III (Consolidated)

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY PERMITTED COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE TO ASK PROSPECTIVE JURORS IF THEY COULD LAY ASIDE FEELINGS OF SYMPATHY FOR APPELLANT'S FAMILY IN CONSIDERING THE DEATH PENALTY, AND PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE OPINION TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S MOTHER THAT THE DEATH PENALTY SHOULD NOT BE IMPOSED.

ARGUMENT

Appellant further alleges that the trial judge erred in permitting counsel for appellee to ask prospective jurors if they could lay aside feelings of sympathy for appellant's family in considering the death penalty, and in excluding the opinion testimony of appellant's mother that the death penalty should not be imposed (R 247; 291; 331-32; 359; 521-22; 1058-61). Appellee believes that both allegations are invalid, primarily because sympathy for a defendant's family is simply not a legitimate nonstatutory mitigating factor vis-a-vis a jury's consideration of the death penalty.

In arguing to the contrary, appellant relies principally on our Supreme Court's decisions of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) and Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982). This reliance is misplaced. In both Lockett and Eddings, our Supreme Court struck down capital sentencing proceedings in which the sentencing judge was statutorily precluded from considering in his deliberation significant mitigating factors bearing upon the defendant's character and past, and the nature of the offense.<sup>1</sup> Here, in

---

1

In Lockett, the excluded evidence encompassed the defendant's "character, prior record, age, lack of specific intent to cause death, and her relatively minor part in the crime", 438 U.S. 586, 597, while in Eddings the excluded evidence encompassed the defendant's brutalized upbringing.

contrast, the sentencing judge precluded the jury from considering in its advisory deliberations the insignificant factor of sympathy for appellant's family, while making his own finding that the supportiveness of appellant's family was a mitigating factor of modest and nondispositive weight. These actions were clearly proper insofar as the character of appellant's family does not reflect favorably upon his character, or his record, or the nature of his offense--i.e., factors which the trier of fact should consider under Lockett. Indeed, the Lockett court explicitly noted that "[n]othing in this opinion limits the traditional authority of a court to exclude, as irrelevant, evidence not bearing" upon these factors, 438 U.S. 586, 605. The foregoing is consistent with this Court's decision in Randolph v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1983), 8 F.L.W. 447, which, in holding that a murder victim's father could testify as to relevant information, states that "the Court must guard against the possibility that sympathy will be injected in the trial." See also Magill v. State, 386 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1980), cert.denied, 450 U.S. 927 (1981), holding that even precluding the defendant from testifying in mitigation that he felt remorse for his crimes was not reversible error; and Jackson v. Wainwright, 421 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1982), holding that a finding in aggravation that the defendant felt no remorse was not reversible error.

Moreover, appellant has clearly waived consideration of the sympathy issues on appeal. As noted, defense counsel voiced no objection when the trial judge instructed the jury at the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial that considerations of sympathy for any party could play no part in the jury's deliberations

(R 1029-30). Defense counsel even argued to the jury at this point that they should not let sympathy for the victim affect their verdict, and in his closing argument during the penalty phase even went so far as to agree with the prosecutor that a penalty of life imprisonment "would not be proper if it was based on sympathy for the (appellant's) family", and stated that he was not making such an argument (R 994; 1231). It is clear that a criminal defendant who seeks to maintain palpably inconsistent positions during the course of a criminal proceeding, in order to suit the needs of the moment, may be collaterally estopped from doing so. See State v. Beamon, 298 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1974), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 1124 (1975); see also McPhee v. State, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971).

Appellee would further submit that the exclusion of the nonexpert opinion testimony of appellant's mother on the ultimate issue of whether the death penalty should be imposed was alternatively proper under Chapter 90, Fla. Stat., and interpretative case law. See Mills v. Redwing Carriers, Inc., 127 So.2d 453 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1961) (admission of nonexpert witness's speculation on the ultimate issue to be resolved invades the province of the jury); Farley v. State, 324 So.2d 662 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), cert. denied, 336 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1976) (admission of the opinion testimony of a witness that the defendants were guilty was improper); and Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach, 426 So.2d 1063, 1070 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (even expert witnesses are not entitled to tender legal conclusions). See also Herring v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1984), 9 F.L.W. 49, holding proper the exclusion of testimony from three defense

lawyers that their clients had received life sentences upon pleading guilty to murders similar to that committed by the defendant. Moreover, any error in the exclusion of appellant's mother's testimony would be harmless in view of the fact that appellant's father, testifying for the defense during the penalty phase of the trial, wept and said of appellant, "I don't want him to die" (R 1073). See Magill v. State; Jackson v. Wainwright; cf Williams v. Maggio, 679 F.2d 381 (11th Cir. 1982), affirmed, Maggio v. Williams, holding that defense counsel in a capital case will not be held to have provided ineffective assistance at sentencing merely because he failed to investigate all possibly mitigating facets of the defendant's past.

#### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY DECLINED TO EXPLICITLY INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT ITS GUILT PHASE FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS PREMEDITATED DID NOT NECESSARILY JUSTIFY A PENALTY PHASE FINDING THAT IT WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant next claims that the trial judge erred in declining to explicitly instruct the jury that its guilt phase finding that the murder was premeditated did not necessarily justify a penalty phase finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R 1180-81). Appellee disagrees. As noted, the prosecutor, in closing, informed the jury that their finding that the murder was premeditated would not automatically justify a finding that it was cold and calculated, stating:

You've already decided it was a premeditated killing. In addition, you must find beyond a reasonable doubt that it was cold; it was calculated...

(R 1201). Defense counsel pursued this theme as follows:

I think you further realize that it's not the law that all first degree premeditated and felony murders require the death penalty... We're not talking about just premeditation... [T]here are the additional factors which you must find that it was committed in a cold and calculated manner. Now, that is different from the finding of at least a premeditated design that had to do at trial.

(R 1210; 1211). The judge instructed the jury that, in accordance with Florida law, "[e]ach aggravating circumstance must be established beyond a reasonable doubt" (R 1238).

The propriety of jury instructions in capital sentencing proceedings should be assessed by viewing the instructions in their

entirety. See Jackson v. Wainwright. The Florida Standard Jury Instructions properly express Florida capital law. See Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982); Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 964 (1981). In Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024, 1032 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1111 (1982), this court held:

Regarding Jent's second sentencing claim, he alleges that every person convicted of premeditated murder will start the sentencing proceeding with one aggravating circumstance already established. This, Jent argues, will violate due process by forcing the defendant to prove lack of premeditation in the sentencing phase of the trial. We do not agree that this will occur. As we stated in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 417 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974), the aggravating circumstances set out in section 921.141 must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. The level of premeditation needed to convict in the penalty phase of a first-degree murder trial does not necessarily rise to the level of premeditation in subsection (5)(i). Thus, in the sentencing hearing the state will have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the elements of the premeditation aggravating factor--"cold, calculated... and without any pretense of moral or legal justification."

Appellee interprets this passage to hold, in harmony with the earlier cited general principles, that the judge's instruction that the jury find only those aggravating circumstances which were proved beyond a reasonable doubt was sufficient to apprise the jury of the distinction between their earlier finding of premeditation and their possible finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. See Herring v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1984), 9 F.L.W. 49. Note that in Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418, 421 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982), this Court held that application of this aggravating factor to a murder occurring prior to the date of its enactment did not constitute an ex post facto operation

of the law inasmuch as this factor "adds nothing new to the elements of (murder)... but rather adds limitations to those elements for use in aggravation, limitations which inure to the benefit of a defendant." Cf Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982), holding that a capital defendant convicted of felony murder is not deprived of due process by a penalty phase finding that the murder was committed in the course of a felony.

## ISSUE V

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY FOUND IN AGGRAVATION THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED PREMEDITATED MANNER, AND THAT IT WAS COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING A LAWFUL ARREST; AND THAT THE DEATH PENALTY WAS JUSTIFIED EVEN IF THESE FINDINGS SHOULD ONLY HAVE BEEN MADE IN THE ALTERNATIVE.

## ARGUMENT

Appellant further claims that the trial court erred in finding in aggravation that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, and that it was committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest; and that the death penalty was justified even if these findings should only have been made in the alternative. The gravamen of appellant's complaint is that these two findings were based on the same evidence and that this evidence was insufficient to support either finding.

True, the trial judge did rely on essentially the same evidence--that appellant was acquainted with the victim and thus killed her to avoid detection-- to find that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner and was committed to avoid a lawful arrest (R 1458-61). Appellee does not believe, however, that this constituted an improper "doubling up" of aggravating factors under the principles of Provence v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 969 (1977), and its progeny, insofar as it is obviously possible for a defendant to commit an act with dual motives. In Herring v. State, this Court implied as much, concluding that

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